B 10 (Otficial Form 10) (12/08)

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT Northern District of California

PROOF OF CLAIM

Name of Debtor
Heller Ehrman LLP

Case Number
08-32514

NOTE: This form should not be used to make a claim for an adminisivarive expense arising after the commencement of the case. A request for payment of an

administrative expense may be filed pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 503.

Name of Creditor (the person or other entity to whom the debtor owes maney or property)
Garfield Granett, Carl Goodman, Anna Scarpa on behalf of themselves and the putative class

Name and address where notices should be sent

Steven A. Blum

Blum Collins LLP

707 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 4880, Los Angeles, CA 90017
Telephone number

(213) 572-0400

[ Check this box to indicate that this
claim amends a previously filed
claim

Court Claim Number:
({f known)

Filed on

Name and address where pavment should be sent (it different from above)
Steven A. Blum

Blum Collins LLP

707 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 4880, Los Angeles, CA 90017

T'elephone number

(213) 572-0400

O Check this box 1f you are aware that
anyone else has filed a proof of claim
relating to your claim Attach copy of
statement giving particulars

O Check this box 1f vou are the debtor
or trustee in this case

L. Amount of Claim as of Date Case Filed: S

32.000.000.00

If7all or part of your claim is secured, complete item 4 below; however, 1t all of your claim is unsecured. do not complete
item <4

Ifall or part of your claim s entitled 1o priority, complete item 3

°(Clk‘ck this box 1 claim includes interest or other charges in addition to the principal amount of claim. Attach itemized
statement of interest or charges

1=

. Basis for Claim: _ See attached
(See instruction #2 on reverse side.)

3. Last four digits of any number by which creditor identifies debtor: 8789 ) %ﬁél; ngq

3a. Debtor may have scheduled account as:
(See instruction #3a on reverse side )

o

- Secured Claim (See mstruction #4 on reverse side.)
Check the appropriate box if your claim is secured by a lien on property or a right of setofT and provide the requested
information

TJReal Estate O Motor Vehicle

Nature of property or right of setoff: OOther

Describe:
Value of Property:S Annual Interest Rate %o
Amount of arrearage and other charges as of time case filed included in secured claim,

ifany: S Basis for perfection:

Amount of Secured Claim: S Amount Unsecured: S

6. Credits: The amount of all payments on this claim has been credited for the purpose of making this proof of claim

7. Documents: Attach redacted copies of any documents that support the claim, such as promissory notes, purchase
orders, mvoices, itemized statements of running accounts, contracts, judgments, mortgages, and security agreements.
You may also attach a summary. Attach redacted copies of documents providing evidence of perfection of

asecunity interest. You may also attach a summary. (See instruction 7 and definition of “redacted”” on reverse side.)

DO NOT SEND ORIGINAL DOCUMENTS. ATTACHED DOCUMENTS MAY BE DESTROYED AFTER
SCANNING

If'the documents are not available, please explain: Records in Debtor's possession

. Amount of Claim Entitled to
Priority under 11 U.S.C. §507(a). IT
any portion of your claim falls in
one of the following categories,
check the box and state the
amount.

n

Specity the priority ot the claim

O Domestic support obligations under
1T US.C.§507(@)(1)(A) or (a)(1)(B)

E{ Wages, salaries, or commissions (up
to $10,950%) earned within 180 days
before filing of the bankruptey
petition or cessation of the debtor’s
business, whichever is earlier — 11
U.S.C. §507 (a)(4)

I_wémrihuti(ms to an employee benefit
plan—11 U S C.§307 (a)(5)

O Up to $2.425% of deposits toward
purchase, lease. or rental of property
or services for personal. family, or
household use — 11 US C. §507
(@)(7).

O Taxes or penalties owed to
governmental units—- 11 US.C. §507
(a)(8)

3 Other - Specify applicable paragraph
of 11 US.C §507 (a)(_).

Amount entitled to priority:

$ 9.427,950.00

*Amounis are subject to adjustment on
/1710 and every 3 years thereafter with
respect to cases commenced on or after
the date of adjustment.

Date:
03/27/2009

Signature: The person filing this claim must sign it. Sign and
other person authorized 10 file this claim and state address an
address above. Attach copy of power of attorney, 1f any

Steven A. Blum, Attorney for Creditors

rint name and title, if’ any. of the creditor or
elephone number if different from the notice

b/l Gl

FOR COURT USE ONLY

Penalty for presenting fraudulent claim: Fine of up to $300,000 or imprisonment for up to 5 years, or both. 18 U.S.C. §§ 152 and 3571




PRELIMINARY CALCULATION OF CLAIM

The Creditors Garfield Granett, Carl Goodman, and Anna Scarpa (collectively,
"Class Claimants"), on behalf of themselves and the putative class (described below), calculate
their claim as follows:

Class Claimants estimate that the Debtor terminated 861 employees on or about
October 2008. Class Claimants further estimate that each of the terminated employees were
owed wages of at least $10,950, which is the priority amount in 11 U.S.C. § 507(a)(4). These
employees are likely also entitled to priority claims for contributions to an employee benefit plan
under 11 U.S.C. 8 507(a)(5).

Multiplying 861 employees by $10,950 each yields a priority claim of $9,427,950.

The Class Claimants also estimate that the putative class members were owed
payment for accrued vacation time, state and federal WARN Act benefits, and other wages,
benefits and penalties (described below) in the estimated amount of $22,572,050.

This yields a total claim of $32,000,000. This claim is an estimate only based on
limited information available to the Class Claimants. The claim amount could be confirmed by
records in the Debtor's possession. The Class Claimants reserve the right to amend or modify

this claim at a later date.



SUMMARY OF CLAIM

1. This case arises out of the dissolution of Heller Ehrman LLP, a nationwide law
firm which began doing business in San Francisco in 1890. Class Claimants and proposed class
members are employees who seek wages that Debtor has refused to pay following the abrupt
termination of their employment. Class Claimants and all similarly situated employees are

entitled to priority pursuant to the United States Bankruptcy Code 8§ 507(a)(4), (5).

2. Through this action, Class Claimants and other similarly situated employees of
Debtor seek recovery of damages in the amount of 60 days' pay and ERISA benefits by reason
of Debtor's violation of the Class Claimants' rights under the Worker Adjustment and
Retraining Notification Act, 29 U.S.C. § 2101 et seq. (the "WARN Act") and the California
WARN Act, Cal. Labor Code § 1400 et seq. (the "California WARN Act"). Class Claimants
were employees of Debtor and were terminated as part of, or as a result of, mass layoffs and/or
plant closings ordered by the Debtor. Debtor violated federal law and state law by failing to
give Class Claimants and other similarly situated employees of the Debtor 60 days notice as

required by State and Federal Law.

3. Class Claimants and other similarly situated employees also seek recovery of
unpaid wages and other compensation and benefits, including vacation time, and waiting time
penalties, as a result of Debtor's failure to pay employees all such wages and benefits, including

vacation time, due and owing at the time of their terminations.

THE PARTIES
4, Individual and Representative Plaintiff Garfield Granett is an individual residing
in San Francisco, California. He was employed by Debtor from March 2005 to October 10,

2008 in the Information Technology Department in Debtor's San Francisco office.
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5. Individual and Representative Plaintiff Carl Goodman is an individual residing in
Seattle, Washington. He was employed by Debtor from September 2005 to October 10, 2008

as a Senior Manager of Business Development in Debtor's Seattle, Washington office.

6. Individual and Representative Plaintiff Anna Scarpa is an individual residing in
Franklin Square, New York. She was employed by Debtor from approximately October 16,
2006 to approximately October 17, 2008 as a Manager of Professional Services in Debtor's

New York office.

7. Debtor Heller Ehrman, LLP ("Heller Enrman ") is a limited liability partnership
organized under the laws of the State of California. The partnership maintains offices and

conducts business in the State of California, including in San Francisco.

8. Class Claimants are further informed, believe, and thereon allege that Debtor
maintained and facilities across the country that qualified for protection under the WARN Act

(collectively the "Facilities™).

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
9. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8§88 1331 (federal
question), 1334 (bankruptcy cases), 1367 (supplemental jurisdiction), and 2201 (declaratory
judgments). This case is being brought under the WARN Act, 29 U.S.C. 8 2101 et seq.

10. This Court also has supplemental jurisdiction over the state law claims pursuant

to 28 U.S.C. 81367.

11. This is a core proceeding pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8 157(b)(2)(A), (B), (E), (K) and
(0).



FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL COUNTS
12. On or about September 25, 2008, Heller Ehrman announced that it was dissolving
its partnership. On that day it informed some employees that their final day would be

November 28, 2008.

13. On or about October 3, 2008, Heller Ehrman announced that it would not be
paying employees for accrued but unused vacation when they ended their employment with

Heller Ehrman.

14. On October 10, 2008, Debtor terminated the employment of over 100 Heller

Ehrman employees nationwide.

15. On October 17, 2008, Debtor terminated the employment of hundreds of Heller

Ehrman employees nationwide.

16. Heller Ehrman maintains a vacation policy that applies to most of its United
States employees. Through that vacation policy, employees accrue vacation as they work for

Heller Ehrman.

17. Heller Ehrman also maintains a sabbatical program which provides additional

vacation to employees who have worked 10 years or more.

18. Heller Ehrman's vacation policy provides: "Employees who terminate or change
their status to on-call will receive a vacation payout of all accrued vacation at their hourly rate

on their last day of employment with the Firm."

19. Starting approximately October 3, 2008, Heller Ehrman ceased paying employees

for their unused vacation at the time of termination. Upon information and belief, Heller
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Ehrman has not paid unused vacation to employees whose employment ended on or after

October 3, 2008.

20. Plaintiff Granett had over 50 hours of vacation available to him when his

employment ended on October 10, 2008. Heller Ehrman has not paid him for this vacation.

21. Plaintiff Goodman had approximately 150 hours of vacation available to him
when he was involuntarily terminated on October 10, 2008. Heller Ehrman has not paid him

for this vacation.

22, Plaintiff Scarpa had over 100 hours of vacation available to her when she was

involuntarily terminated on October 17, 2008. Heller Ehrman has not paid her for this vacation.

23. On December 28, 2008, Heller Ehrman LLP filed a voluntary petition for relief
under Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS UNDER 29 U.S.C. § 2104 (WARN ACT)
24, Class Claimants and those they seek to represent herein were discharged without
cause on their part on or about October 10, 2008 or within 30 days of that date, as the
reasonable foreseeable consequence of the mass layoff or plant closing ordered by Debtor, and

are "affected employees” within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. §2101 (a)(5).

25. Class Claimants bring this action on their own behalf, pursuant to the WARN Act,
and on behalf of all other similarly situated former employees of Debtor who were terminated
on or about October 10, 2008 or within 30 days of that date, and thereafter who worked at one

of the Facilities until their termination.

26. During the 30 days starting October 10, 2008, Debtor terminated Class Claimants'

employment as part of a mass layoff ang/or a plant closing as defined by 29 U.S.C. § 2101



(@)(2), (3) for which they were entitled to receive sixty (60) days advance written notice under

the WARN Act.

27. Debtor, as a single employer, did not give Class Claimants the statutorily required

sixty (60) days notice of the mass layoff or termination in violation of the WARN Act.

28. Upon information and belief, at or about the time that Class Claimants were
discharged, on or after October 10, 2008, Debtor discharged hundreds of other employees at the

Facilities (the "Other Similarly Situated Former Employees").

29. Pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 2104(a)(5), Class Claimants maintain this claim on behalf

of themselves and each of the Other Similarly Situated Former Employees.

30. Each of the Other Similarly Situated Former Employees is similarly situated to

Class Claimants in respect to his or her rights under the WARN Act, in that, inter alia:

a. Class Claimants and the Other Similarly Situated Former Employees were

discharged by Debtor without cause on their part.

b. Class Claimants and the Other Similarly Situated Former Employees are
"affected employee(s)" within the meaning of the WARN Act, 29 U.S.C. §
2101(a)(5).

C. Debtor was required by the WARN Act to give Class Claimants and the
Other Similarly Situated Former Employees at least sixty (60) days advance

written notice of their respective terminations.



d. Prior to their termination, neither Class Claimants nor the Other Similarly
Situated Former Employees received written notice that complied with the

requirements of the WARN Act.

e. Debtor failed to pay Class Claimants and the Other Similarly Situated
Former Employees their respective wages, salary, commissions, bonuses, accrued
holiday, sabbatical, and vacation pay and other benefits for sixty (60) calendar
days following notice of their terminations and failed to make the 401(k)
contributions and provide them with health insurance coverage and other
employee benefits under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act
("ERISA™) for sixty (60) calendar days from and after notice of their respective
terminations (and all benefits owed under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget

Reconciliation Act of 1985 ["COBRA"]).

CALIFORNIA WARN ACT ALLEGATIONS
31. Plaintiff Granett and others similarly situated were employed at Debtor's facilities
in California until their employment was ended in violation of Cal. Labor Code 8§ 1400 et seq.,

within 30 days of October 10, 2008.

32. Plaintiff Granett and others similarly situated were employees of Debtor, and

Debtor was their employers, as those terms are defined in Cal Labor Code § 1400.

33. Debtor operated facilities in California that were "covered establishment(s),” as
that term is defined in Cal. Labor Code § 1400, because they employed 75 or more persons in

certain facilities in the 12 months before October 10, 2008.

34, Plaintiff Granett and others similarly situated were subjected to a "mass layoff,"
"relocation,” or "termination," as those terms are defined in Cal. Labor Code § 1400, within 30

days of October 10, 2008.



35. Debtor failed to provide Plaintiff Granett and others similarly situated with the
proper notice required by Cal. Labor Code § 1401 prior to the mass layoff, relocation, or

termination.

36. Debtor failed to provide Plaintiff Granett and others similarly situated with 60

days wages and benefits as required by Cal. Labor Code § 1402.

WARN ACT CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS UNDER F.R.B.P. 7023 AND F.R.C.P. 23
37. Class Claimants sue under Rule 7023 of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy
Procedure, and Rules 23(a), (b)(I) and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf

of the following proposed WARN Classes:

WARN Class: All employees who worked at or reported to one of Debtor's
Facilities and were terminated without cause in the 30 days starting October 10,
2008, or were terminated without cause as the reasonable foreseeable
consequence of the mass layoff or plant closing ordered by Debtor on or about
October 10, 2008, and who are affected employees, within the meaning of 29

U.S.C. § 2101(a)(5).

California WARN Class: All employees who worked at or reported to one of
Debtor's qualifying facilities in California and who were subject to a mass layoff,

relocation, or termination ordered by Debtor on or after October 10, 2008.

38. Numerosity: The Proposed Classes are so numerous that joinder of all members
is impracticable. Class Claimants are informed and believe, and on that basis allege, that

hundreds of people satisfy the definition of the Proposed Classes.



39. Typicality:  The Class Claimants' claims are typical of the members of the
Proposed Classes. Class Claimants, and proposed class members, were involuntarily

terminated by Debtor without proper notice under the WARN Act.

40. Superiority: A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair
and efficient adjudication of the controversy, especially in the context of WARN Act litigation,
which necessarily involves a single decision or set of decisions that affects the rights of

hundreds of employees.

41. Adequacy: Class Claimants will fairly and adequately protect the interests of
the Proposed Class, and have retained counsel experienced in representing employees in

complex class litigation.

42. Commonality: Common questions of law and fact exist to all members of the
Proposed Class and predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the

Proposed Class, including but not limited to:

a. whether Debtor was covered employers under the WARN Act and/or the

California WARN Act;

b. whether all Class members were protected under the WARN Act and/or

the California WARN Act;

C. whether all Class members' employment locations were covered Facilities

under the WARN Act and/or the California WARN Act;

d. whether Debtor acted as a single employer in terminating Class Members'

employment;



e. whether Debtor gave at least 60 days advance written notice to the Class

members, as required by the WARN Act and/or the California WARN Act; and

f. whether Debtor failed to pay the Class members wages and to provide
other employee benefits for the sixty day period following their respective

terminations.

43. This case is maintainable as a class action under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(l) because
prosecution of actions by or against individual members of the class would result in
inconsistent or varying adjudications and create the risk of incompatible standards of conduct
for Debtor. Further, adjudication of each individual member's claim as a separate action would
be dispositive of the interest of other individuals not party to this action, impeding their ability

to protect their interests.

44, Class certification is also appropriate under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3) because
questions of law and fact common to the Proposed Class predominate over any questions
affecting only individual members of the Proposed Class, and because a class action is superior
to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of this litigation. Litigation of
these claims in one forum is efficient, especially in the context of WARN Act litigation, which
necessarily involves a single decision or set of decisions that affects the rights of hundreds of
employees. In addition, class certification is superior because it will obviate the need for
unduly duplicative litigation that might result in inconsistent judgments about Debtor's

practices.

45, Class Claimants intend to send notice to all members of the Proposed Class to the

extent required by Rule 23. The names and address of the Proposed Class are available from

Debtor.
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VACATION TIME CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS
46. Class Claimants sue under Rule 7023 of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy
Procedure, and Rules 23(a), (b)(I) and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf

of the following proposed Vacation Classes:

California Vacation Class: All former employees of Debtor in the

State of California whose employment with Debtor ended on or after
October 3 2008, through the trial of this case, and who had accrued
but unused vacation at the time of termination.

Washington Vacation Class:  All former employees of Debtor in

the State of Washington whose employment with Debtor ended on or
after October 3, 2008, through the trial of this case, and who had
accrued but unused vacation at the time of termination.

New York Vacation Class: All former employees of Debtor in the

State of New York whose employment with Debtor ended on or after
October 3 2008, through the trial of this case, and who had accrued
but unused vacation at the time of termination.
47, Additionally and in the alternative, Class Claimants sue under Cal. Bus. Prof.

Code § 17200, et. seq., on behalf of the following group of similarly situated individuals:

17200 Class:  All employees nationwide whose employment with
Debtor ended on or after October 3, 2008, through the trial of this
case, and who had accrued but unused vacation at the time of
termination.
48. Numerosity: The Proposed Classes are so numerous that joinder of all members
is impracticable. Class Claimants are informed and believe, and on that basis allege, that

hundreds of people who satisfy the definition of the Proposed Classes.
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49, Typicality:  The Class Claimants' claims are typical of the members of the
Proposed Classes. Class Claimants are informed and believe that Heller Ehrman uniformly
failed to pay accrued vacation to individuals whose employment with Heller Ehrman ended on

or after October 3, 2008.

50. Superiority: A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair
and efficient adjudication of the controversy here, where Debtor has failed to pay wages to
hundreds of employees, and Debtor's dissolution may shrink the assets available to pay

employees.

51. Adequacy:  Class Claimants will fairly and adequately protect the interests of
the Proposed Class, and have retained counsel experienced in representing employees in

complex class litigation.
52. Commonality: Common questions of law and fact exist to all members of the
Proposed Class and predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the

Proposed Class, including but not limited to:

a. Whether Debtor maintained a policy of providing vacation to Class

Members;

b. Whether Debtor's vacation policy required that Debtor pay Class;

Members for their unused vacation at the time of termination;

C. Whether Debtor uniformly and unlawfully failed to pay vacation time to

class members;
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d. Whether Class Claimants and Proposed Class Members who worked in
California are entitled to waiting time penalties pursuant to California Labor Code

§ 203;

e. Whether Class Claimants and Proposed Class Members who worked in
Washington state are entitled to waiting time penalties pursuant to Washington

Revised Code § 49.52.070;

f. Whether Debtor's conduct violated the California Unfair Practices Act set
forth in the Business and Professions Code 8 17200 et seq. by violating state and

federal law as set forth herein; and
g. The proper measure of damages sustained by the Proposed Class.

53. This case is maintainable as a class action under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(l) because
prosecution of actions by or against individual members of the class would result in
inconsistent or varying adjudications and create the risk of incompatible standards of conduct
for Debtor. Further, adjudication of each individual member's claim as a separate action would
be dispositive of the interest of other individuals not party to this action, impeding their ability

to protect their interests.

54. Class certification is also appropriate under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3) because
questions of law and fact common to the Proposed Classes predominate over any questions
affecting only individual members of the Proposed Classes, and because a class action is
superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of this litigation.
Upon information and belief, Debtor's vacation policy applied to all Class Members and Debtor
uniformly failed to pay unused vacation time to all Class Members. In addition, class
certification is superior because it will obviate the need for unduly duplicative litigation that

might result in inconsistent judgments about Debtor's practices.
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55. Class Claimants intend to send notice to all members of the Proposed Class to the

extent required by Rule 23. The names and address of the Proposed Class are available from

Debtor.
FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
VIOLATION OF THE WARN ACT
56. Class Claimants allege and incorporate by reference the allegations in the

preceding paragraphs.

57. At all relevant times, the Debtor employed more than 100 employees who in the
aggregate worked at least 4,000 hours per week exclusive of hours of overtime within the

United States.

58. At all relevant times, Debtor was an "employer" as that term is defined in 29
U.S.C. § 2101(a)(1) and 20 C.F.R. § 639(a) and continued to operate as a business until

determining to order a mass layoff and/or plant closing at the Facilities.

59. The Debtor constituted a "single employer™ of Class Claimants and WARN Class
members under the WARN Act.

60. On or about October 10, 2008 the Debtor ordered a "mass layoff and/or plant
closing of the Facilities, as that term is defined in 29 U.S.C. § 2101(a)(2).

61. The mass layoff and/or plant closing at the Facilities resulted in "employment
losses,™ as that term is defined by 29 U.S.C. § 2101(a)(2) for at least fifty (50) of Debtor's
employees as well as 33% of Debtor's workforce at each of the Facilities, excluding part-time

employees as that term is defined by 29 U.S.C. § 2101(a)(8).
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62. Class Claimants and each of the other members of the WARN Class were
discharged by Debtor without cause on their part, as part of or as the reasonable foreseeable

result of the mass layoff and/or plant closing ordered by Debtor at the Facilities.

63. Class Claimants and the other members of the WARN Class are "affected

employees" of Debtor within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. § 2101(a)(5).

64. Debtor failed to give Class Claimants and other members of the WARN Class

written notice that complied with the requirements of the WARN act.

65. Class Claimants and each of the other members of the WARN Class are

"aggrieved employees” of the Debtor as that term is defined in 29 U.S. C. §2104(a)(7).

66. Debtor failed to pay Class Claimants and each of the other members of the
WARN Class their respective wages, salary, commissions, bonuses, accrued holiday pay and
accrued vacation for 60 days following notice of their terminations and failed to make the
pension and 401(k) contributions and provide employee benefits under ER1SA, for 60 days
following notice of their respective terminations. Debtor is also liable to Class Claimants for

their reasonable attorneys fees under 29 U.S.C. § 2104.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
VIOLATION OF THE CALIFORNIA WARN ACT
(CAL. LABOR CODE CODE § 1400 ET SEQ.)
67. Class Claimants allege and incorporate by reference the allegations in the

preceding paragraphs.

68. In the 12 months proceeding October 10, 2008, Debtor operated facilities in

California in which they employed 75 persons or more.
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69. Debtor's actions, as described above and as they occurred at Debtor's qualifying
facilities in California, constituted a "mass layoff,” "relocation,” or "termination," without

proper notice, in violation of the California WARN Act, Cal Labor Code § 1400 et seq.

70. Debtor is therefore liable to Plaintiff Granett and the California WARN Class for
back pay and benefits for 60 days, as outlined in Cal. Labor Code § 1402, as well as attorneys'

fees under Cal. Labor Code § 1404.

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
FAILURE TO PAY VACATION UNDER CAL. LABOR CODE § 227.3
71. Class Claimants allege and incorporate by reference the allegations in the

preceding paragraphs.

72. Cal. Labor Code § 227.3 requires that employers who provide employees with
vacation time must pay employees for all unused vacation at the time of termination of

employment.

73. Debtor violated Cal. Labor Code 8§ 227.3 by failing to pay Plaintiff Granett and
the Proposed California Vacation Class the vacation time (including sabbatical time) due and

owing to them at the tune of the termination of their employment.

74, As a result of Debtor's violation of law, Plaintiff Granett and the Proposed
California Vacation Class have suffered damages, including loss of earnings for unpaid
vacation time in an amount to be established at trial, an award of attorneys' fees pursuant to

Code of Civil Procedure § 1021.5 and other applicable law, and costs.
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FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
WAITING TIME PENALTIES UNDER CAL. LABOR CODE § 203
75. Class Claimants allege and incorporate by reference the allegations in the

preceding paragraphs.

76. California WARN Class and California Vacation Class Members have been
terminated, or have resigned, from their positions with Debtor. Debtor, however, willfully
failed to pay such Class Members all wages owed them, including vacation time and their final

week'’s pay, within the time limits set forth in California Labor Code sections 201 and 202.

77. Under Labor Code sections 201, 202, and 203, Class Members are entitled to
waiting time penalties for Debtor's willful failure to timely pay all wages owed upon separation

of their employment.

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
BREACH OF CONTRACT AS TO THE WASHINGTON VACATION CLASS
78. Class Claimants allege and incorporate by reference the allegations in the

preceding paragraphs.

79. A contract, oral and written, express and implied, existed between Members of

the Washington Vacation Class (including Plaintiff Goodman) and Debtor.

80. By that contract, Debtor was required to pay employees all accrued vacation lime,

including sabbatical leave, at the termination of employment.

81. Debtor violated that contract by failing to pay vacation time to Plaintiff Goodman

and Members of the Washington Vacation Class.
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82. As a result of Debtor's breach of contract, Plaintiff Goodman and Washington
Vacation Class Members suffered damages in the amount of their accrued but unpaid vacation

and sabbatical time, to be determined at trial.

83. Washington Vacation Class Members have been terminated, or have resigned,
from their positions with Debtor. Debtor, however, willfully failed to pay such Class Members
all wages owed them, including vacation time, as required by Washington Rev. Code 8

49.52.050.

84. Under Washington Rev. Code 8§ 49.52.070, Class Members are entitled to twice
the amount of wages unlawfully withheld by way of exemplary damages, together with costs of
suit and a reasonable sum for attorney fees, for Debtor's willful failure to timely pay all wages

owed upon separation of their employment.

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
PROMISSORY ESTOPPEL AS TO THE WASHINGTON VACATION CLASS
85. Class Claimants allege and incorporate by reference the allegations in the

preceding paragraphs.

86. Debtor reasonably expected to induce Plaintiff Goodman and Washington
Vacation Class Members, and did induce Plaintiff Goodman and Washington Vacation Class

Members, to rely on promises relating to the payment of unused vacation and sabbatical time.

87. Plaintiff Goodman and Washington Vacation Class Members reasonably relied to
their detriment on promises and representations made to him by Debtor relating to the payment

of unused vacation.

88. Debtor has refused to honor the promises made to Plaintiff Goodman and

Washington Vacation Class Members.18



89. As a result, Plaintiff Goodman and Washington Vacation Class Members are
entitled to an award in equity in the amount of their unused vacation and sabbatical time, to be

determined at trial.

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
BREACH OF CONTRACT AS TO THE NEW YORK VACATION CLASS
90. Class Claimants allege and incorporate by reference the allegations in the

preceding paragraphs.

91. A contract, oral and written, express and implied, existed between Members of

the New York Vacation Class (including Plaintiff Scarpa) and Debtor.

92. By that contract, Debtor was required to pay employees all accrued vacation time,

including sabbatical leave, at the termination of employment.

93. Debtor violated that contract by failing to pay vacation time to Plaintiff Scarpa

and Members of the New York Vacation Class.

94, As a result of Debtor's breach of contract, Plaintiff Scarpa and New York
Vacation Class Members suffered damages in the amount of their accrued but unpaid vacation

and sabbatical time, to be determined at trial.

EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
PROMISSORY ESTOPPEL AS TO THE NEW YORK VACATION CLASS
95. Class Claimants allege and incorporate by reference the allegations in the

preceding paragraphs.
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96. Debtor reasonably expected to induce Plaintiff Scarpa and New York Vacation
Class Members, and did induce Plaintiff Scarpa and New York Vacation Class Members, to

rely on promises relating to the payment of unused vacation and sabbatical lime.

97. Plaintiff Scarpa and New York Vacation Class Members reasonably relied to their
detriment on promises and representations made to her by Debtor relating to the payment of

unused vacation.

98. Debtor has refused to honor the promises made to Plaintiff Scarpa and New York

Vacation Class Members.

99. As a result, Plaintiff Scarpa and New York Vacation Class Members are entitled
to an award in equity in the amount of their unused vacation and sabbatical time, to be

determined at trial.

NINTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
UNFAIR PRACTICE UNDER THE CALIFORNIA UNFAIR COMPETITION ACT
100. Class Claimants allege and incorporate by reference the allegations in the

preceding paragraphs,

101. Section 17200 of the California Business and Professions Code — California's
Unfair Competition Law — prohibits unfair competition by prohibiting, inter alia, any
unlawful or unfair business acts or practices. The foregoing conduct by Debtor, as alleged,

constitutes unlawful business actions and practices in violation of Section 17200, et seq.

102. Pursuant to Business and Professions Code § 17200 et seq., Class Claimants and
17200 Class Members are entitled to restitution of the vacation time and other unpaid wages

and premiums alleged herein that Debtor has improperly withheld, a permanent injunction
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requiring Debtor to pay vacation time to all workers as defined herein, an award of attorneys'

fees pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure § 1021.5 and other applicable law, and costs.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
103. WHEREFORE, Class Claimants, on behalf of themselves and all members of the

Proposed Classes, pray for relief as follows:

A. That the Court determine that this action may be maintained as a class
action under Federal Rule of Bankruptcy Procedure 7023 and Federal Rule of
Civil Procedure 23, designate the Class Claimants as class representatives, and

appoint of the undersigned as class counsel;

B. That Debtor is found to have violated the provisions of the WARN Act as

to Class Claimants and the Class;

C. That Debtor is found to have violated the provisions of the California

WARN Act as to Class Claimants and the Class;

D. That Debtor is found to have violated Cal. Labor Code 8§ 227.3 requiring

payment of unused vacation upon termination;

E. That Debtor is found to have breached a contract with Washington and
New York Vacation Class Members by failing to pay unused vacation at the time
of termination, and in the case of Washington Vacation Class Members, that
Debtor is found to have violated Washington Rev. Code § 49.52.050 and
therefore under Washington Rev. Code § 49.52.070 must pay twice the amount of
wages unlawfully withheld by way of exemplary damages, together with costs of

suit and a reasonable sum for attorney fees;
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F. For an award, of damages or in equity, in the amount of unpaid vacation

owed to members of the California, Washington and New York Vacation Classes;

G. That Debtor is found to have violated 88 201, 202, and 203 of the
California Labor Code for willful failure to pay all compensation owed at the time

of separation to Class Claimants and the Class;

H. An award to Class Claimants and the Class for the amount of all unpaid
wages, salary, commissions, bonuses, accrued holiday pay, accrued vacation pay,
pension and 401(k) contributions and other ERISA benefits and all other
compensation owed (including any benefits that would have been covered and
paid under the then-applicable employee benefit plans had that coverage
continued for the full 60-day WARN Act period), including interest thereon, and
penalties subject to proof at trial, and a determination that the first $10,950 of the
Class Claimants' (and each of the other similarly situated former employees)
claims is entitled to priority status pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 507(a)(4), (5), and the

remainder is a general unsecured claim;

l. That Debtor be ordered and enjoined to pay restitution to Class Claimants
and the 17200 Class due to Debtor's unlawful activities, pursuant to Business

and Professions Code 88 17200-05;

J. That Debtor further be enjoined to cease and desist from unlawful

activities in violation of California Business and Professions Code § 17200;

K. An award of reasonable attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to Cal. Code of
Civil Procedure 8 1021.5, Cal. Labor Code § 1404, Washington Rev. Code
§ 49.52.070, 29 U.S.C. § 2104, and/or other applicable law;
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L. For leave to amend this claim to add additional state law claims, including
but not limited to claims in the District of Columbia, State of Alaska, and the

State of Wisconsin; and

M. An allowed administrative expense priority claim under 11 U.S.C. 503 for
the reasonable attorney fees and the costs and disbursements that the Class
Claimants incur in prosecuting this action, as authorized by the WARN Act, 29

U.S.C. § 2104(a)(6); and

N. For such other and further relief, in law or equity, as this Court may deem

appropriate and just.

Dated: March 23, 2009 BLUM | COLLINS LLP

Steven A. Blum
Craig M. Collins
Douglas L. Thorpe
Theresa A. Blasberg

By /s/ Steven A. Blum
Steven A. Blum
Attorneys for Class Claimants and the
putative class
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